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PUBLISHER’S NOTE

The University of Toronto Press is happy to present this new
printing of a classic in the history of Toronto, long unavailable.
The author had made many marginal notes in a precious personal
copy of the first edition, and these were examined when the
present edition was planned. The notes reveal the author’s con-
tinued fascination with the subject and his careful attention in
his reading of early Canadian history to every new bit of infor-
mation about early Toronto. He continued to write about it, and,
in addition to correcting a few typographical errors and adding
several notes (indicated in the text proper by asterisks), the
present edition offers as an additional appendix section several
important summaries of his later research. The first is from an
article which appeared in the Toronto Evening Telegram, August
27, 1938; it corrects the account given in the book of the Toronto
Purchase. The second selection printed here is an excerpt from
an article “Montreal to Niagara in the Seventeenth Century,”
Transactions of the Royal Society of Canada, 1944, Section II;
the passage deals with the name “Toronto.” The third selection,
“More about Toronto,” originally appeared in Ontario Huistory,
1953, and is the author’s final word about the city. He died at
Toronto on June 19, 1953.
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PREFACE

HE CENTENARY of the city of Toronto seems an appro-
I priate time for gathering together whatever is known of
the history of the region during the French régime and
down to the founding of York in 1793. Dr. Henry Scadding, in
his Toronto of Old, first published in 1873, sketched the outlines
of this period. Only a few documents were at that time acces-
sible. Since the appearance of his classic work, the publication
of very many documents and maps, and the researches of
numerous investigators, have made a more detailed picture
possible. The plan adopted in the present study has been to
record all known facts and wherever possible to allow the
original documents to speak for themselves, bridging any gaps
in the continuity of the narrative by historical comment.
Except in one or two cases the original spelling and punctuation
of the documents quoted has been retained. Only an arbitrary
standard in the spelling of Indian place-names would reduce,
for example, the fifty-five variants of Cataraqui to uniformity;
the infinite and picturesque variety of the originals has not
been sacrificed.

Younger by two hundred years than Montreal and Quebec,
Toronto, at first sight, does not seem to possess that heritage of
history and romance which flings a glamour about the traditions
of the older cities. Nevertheless the Toronto Carrying-Place
for a century and a half before the arrival of Simcoe, possesses
a history which, though little known, is always dramatic and
picturesque; it is the history of the wilderness, of the fur-trade,
of the wars and cruelties of the Iroquois, of the adventures of
explorers and missionaries, of the discovery of the Mississippi
Valley and of the great North-West. Sometimes intimately,
sometimes remotely, the Toronto Carrying-Place was touched
by the struggle for the control of the continent waged so long
between the French on the St. Lawrence and the Dutch and the
English on the Hudson.

The reader will observe two omissions in this record. The

xi



xii PREFACE

story of the Huron Mission has been told so often and told so
well that it does not require to be retold; but it ought not to be
forgotten that the events of that dramatic and tragic episode
took place within the Toronto region, for, as we shall discover in
the course of our study, the name ‘ Toronto” was at one time
or another applied to all parts of the pass between the Georgian
Bay and Lake Ontario. Neither will the coming of the United
Empire Loyalists find a place in the narrative, except to mark
the limits of investigation. Very happily the hundred and
fiftieth anniversary of the arrival of the Loyalists in Ontario
coincides with the centenary of the city of Toronto. The
history of the Province of Ontario begins with that event, but
the Loyalists themselves did not settle in the Toronto region
till the founding of York. Their coming exercised too profound
an influence upon the destiny of Canada to be discussed within
the limits of a local history. It was, however, an eminent
Loyalist, Sir John Johnson, proposed by Lord Dorchester as
the first Lieutenant-Governor of Upper Canada, who in his
capacity of Indian Agent arranged the purchase from the
Missisauga Indians of the tract of land known as the ‘‘Toronto
Purchase,” within which lies the city of Toronto, and to which
all land titles trace their legality.

Much of the present volume is composed of entirely new
matter. A continuous history of the locality from 1615 to 1793
is now for the first time possible. The site of the Seneca village
of Teiaiagon, visited by Hennepin and La Salle, has been
identified. Joliet is shown to have been the first to record the
position of Toronto Island, as Raffeix in 1688 was the first to
trace the course of the Don. The existence of a French post
at Toronto in 1720, hitherto unsuspected, and built by the
Sieur Douville, is now for the first time established by docu-
mentary evidence. The results of the recent discoveries of
M. E.-Z. Massicotte, the learned archivist of Montreal, proving
that two forts were built by the French at Toronto in 1750 and
1751 on different sites, have been included. Hitherto unpub-
lished letters from Fort Rouillé have been translated. An
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accurate restoration of Fort Toronto, officially called Fort
Rouillé, is now for the first time possible. Biographies of the
Sieur Douville, the Sieur de la Saussaye, Captain René-Hypolite
La Force, Captain J. B. Bouchette and Philippe de Rocheblave,
all connected in one way or another with Toronto, have
been prepared; as de Rocheblave was the first to point out the
value of the site of the city of Toronto, a special article by the
Hon. E. Fabre Surveyer of the Superior Court of Quebec, has
been included in an appendix. Surveyor Aitkin’s account of
the first survey of the Toronto Purchase in 1788 is now pub-
lished for the first time; this recently-discovered document
establishes the fact that Toronto was laid out by Lord
Dorchester as a town five years before York was founded by
Simcoe. Many new facts about Col. J. B. Rousseau, the
last of the French traders at Toronto, have come to light and
have been included. The etymology of the word ““Toronto”
has been discussed from a fresh point of view, and a cartography
of the Toronto region has been prepared. The Toronto
Carrying-Place has been mapped and its course through the
city of Toronto indicated.

In collecting the details of our local history, sources of
information too numerous to mention have been laid under
contribution. More especially the writer is indebted to the
researches of Dr. Scadding, Miss Lizars, Mr. F. D. Severance,
the historian of Fort Niagara, and Professor Louis C. Karpinski
of the University of Michigan. Grateful acknowledgment is
made of the generous assistance of Mr. L. Homfray Irving of the
Ontario Department of Archives, Mr. N. A. Burwash of the
Ontario Surveys Department, Major Gustave Lanctot, M.
F.-J. Audet, Mr. N. Fee of the Public Archives, Ottawa, M. E.-Z.
Massicotte of the Montreal Archives, M. Agidius Fauteux,
Chief Librarian, Montreal, and Mr. Justice E. Fabre Surveyer
of the Superior Court of Quebec. The author wishes to thank
Dr. F. N. G. Starr, of Toronto, for permission to reproduce
a photograph of the astrolabe found on Christian Island,
and Miss Margaret Rousseau and Miss Muriel Rousseau, of
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Hamilton, for access to the papers of Col. J. B. Rousseau.
Mr. J. M. Walton, of Aurora, by his knowledge of local topo-
graphy, and Mr. A. J. Clark, of Richmond Hill, by his thorough
acquaintance with the archaeology of the district, have rendered
invaluable assistance. Professor W. B. Kerr, of the University
of Buffalo, has given me the results of his examination of the
Amherst Papers. The author is indebted to Mr. R. Home Smith
for permission to reproduce several of the illustrations in Miss
Lizars’ The Valley of the Humber.

P. J. R
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Toronto
During the French Régime

I

SHADOWS ON THE STREET

HE east bank of the Humber, where it flows into Lake

Ontario, is formed by a ridge whose steep sides are still

clothed by vestiges of the original forest. Along the crest
of this ridge Riverside Drive winds among the trees with scarcely
room here and there for the houses. Occasional glimpses are to
be caught of the river meandering as pleasantly through marshy
ground for the modern motor boat as for the canoes of the
Senecas and Missisaugas. Less picturesquely in the valley to
the east and screened by a growth of trees, runs the Kingsway,
pulsating with the traffic of a modern highway. Riverside Drive
enjoys a peculiar seclusion. The forest seems to be making a
last stand against the intruder. The hum of the adjacent city
scarcely penetrates this isolated region, and when it does it is
not loud enough to break the mood of musing and reminiscence
so easily evoked. There is no monument to recall the past,
but this is one of the most historic spots in the lake region,
and here we may go back three centuries to the beginning of
Canadian history. This is the foot of the Toronto Carrying-
Place with memories of Simcoe and Joliet, of La Salle and
Denonville, of Bralé and St. Jean de Brébeuf.

In the centuries when all travel was by canoe and trail, the
Carrying-Place was the link between Lake Ontario and the
upper lakes. Running from the mouth of the Humber to the
west branch of the Holland, it was always traversed on foot.
It was a long portage, but the road was good and it saved the
traveller a detour of hundreds of miles over the exposed waters
of the Great Lakes. The oldest maps indicate that its course
was always the same. This was no ordinary trail; it was a

1



2 TORONTO DURING THE FRENCH REGIME

main thoroughfare, a trunk line of communication with distant
regions definitely determined by the contours of the country
traversed. The Carrying-Place possessed a permanence very
different from casual paths through the forest. It was as old
as human life in America.

May we for a moment anticipate research and weave the
shadows of this modern street into a brief pageant of forgotten
traffic along the old trail? A midsummer night and moonlight
would be the best setting for this reunion of the ghosts of bygone
days, but the trail was trodden for so many centuries by human
feet on so many errands, that if anything of outworn humanity
clings to our material surroundings, here at least at any time
imagination may evoke the past.

Along this street, when it was only a narrow foot-path in
the woods, how many grotesque and terrible figures passed in
the long years before and after the coming of the white man:
war parties of painted braves; lugubrious trains of miserable
prisoners destined to the stake; embassies from tribe to tribe
on more peaceful errands; hunters wandering into the distant
north in quest of furs; Hurons and Iroquois, Ottawas and
Menominees, Shawanoes and Sacs and Foxes and last of all the
debauched Missisaugas, spectators of the white man's progress
and participating with him in cruel and dramatic events; raids
into New York, the defeat of Braddock, the tragedy of Fort
William Henry, the fall of Quebec, the massacre of Wyoming!

Traders, too, of every description knew the mouth of the
Humber and bargained here for the precious peltries; Dutchmen
from the Hudson before the French themselves had gained
access to Lake Ontario; French traders from Fort Frontenac;
English freebooters from Albany, they all knew the Carrying-
Place, and with or without license robbed the poor Indian.
How various and picturesque they were, these rascals from the
Hudson and these lawless coureurs-de-bois from the St. Lawrence,
wild hearts and children of the wilderness as truly as the abori-
gines whom they beguiled. To-day there is a dance-hall on the
bank of the Humber on a knoll overlooking the lake; it stands
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SHADOWS ON THE STREET 3

at the foot of the Carrying-Place; below it is a cove where
hundreds of these gentry landed for their nefarious trade.
Time has shifted the scene.

Here, too, in sombre contrast with the war-paint of the
savages and the gay garments of the coureurs-de-bois were seen
the black robes of the Jesuits and the less gloomy garb of the
Récollets and Sulpicians. Hennepin was here, and Raffeix
mapped the shore and traced the course of the Don as early as
1688; and Fénelon and d’Urfé came from the mouth of the
Rouge to preach at Teiaiagon.

Du Lhut and Péré, Tonti and La Forest, Henry and Frobisher,
and many of the French pioneers of the West passed this way.
None of whom stand out so vividly as the great explorer of the
Mississippi with his crowd of Shawanoes and his great canoes,
three feet wide, to be carried over the long portage and the
*high mountains’’ between Teiaiagon and Lac Toronto. Great
days those for the old trail when the dream of empire was
maturing in the brain of La Salle, a dream which in the end
was to expel the French from America!

And there are memories of Pouchot exploring the shores of
Lake Ontario and perhaps already dimly conscious that he
would be the last to defend the flag of France at Niagara; of
de Léry carefully mapping a region so soon to slip into the
hands of the English; and of all who came and went to the fort
to the east, the soldier-abbé Picquet, and that Captain Douville
whose wife was a niece of Madeleine de Verchéres. How
many of these sojourners idled a summer afternoon on the
Toronto river or wandered up the enticing trail into the unbroken
woods!

How the Missisauga chiefs from their village near by must
have wondered at the fallen fortunes of the French when they
saw the smoke of the burning fort rising above the trees, and
what tales of a new order did they bring back to the river
after they had sworn allegiance to the British and to Sir William
Johnson at Niagara! Strange subjects these of the Crown,
these first citizens of a British Toronto!



4 TORONTO DURING THE FRENCH REGIME

Here, too, at the foot of the old trail, Surveyor Aitkin and
Colonel Butler debated with the Missisaugas the limits of the
land purchased the year before at Quinte. The Indians had
sold more than they intended or they had forgotten the limits
of the sale. Here they are, the white men strong in the destinies
of their race, and the red men fated to disappear and relinquish-
ing with reluctance the lands of their fathers. Herodotus
loved local history and he would have made a striking picture
of so dramatic an incident.

Yonder is Jean Baptiste Rousseau, the last citizen of the
old French Toronto and the first of the new York, putting out
in the early dawn of a midsummer morning from his house at
the foot of the trail to pilot the Mississaga into the bay. The
vessel carries Governor Simcoe and his lady and numerous
officials. They have crossed the lake in state to found the
new town. The band of the Rangers is on board, and for the
first time British martial music is heard in these savage wilds.

A few weeks later, the Governor's gentle wife is to be seen
taking her rides along the ridge where the trail ran; and in the
autumn of the same year the Governor himself setting out with
a well-equipped party on horseback to explore the communica-
tions to the north. And then the trail vanishes from history.
The story of the Carrying-Place comes to an end, for a great
highway called Yonge Street presently takes its place.




I

Tue GATEWAY OF THE HURON COUNTRY
1615-1663

IKE a huge spearhead, the peninsula of Ontario projects
Linto the heart of the lake region. More than two-thirds
of the isthmus between the Georgian Bay and Lake
Ontario is intersected by navigable river and lake. A portage
of thirty miles, known as the Toronto Carrying-Place, completes
this historic communication. Near the northern end the
French established themselves early in the seventeenth century
at Fort Ste. Marie, and failed in their first attempt to control
the interior. At the southern end, on Lake Ontario, Simcoe
in 1793 founded his town of York, which was to grow into the
city of Toronto.

Flanked on all sides by magnificent waterways, the peninsula
of Ontario occupied a strategic position long before the coming
of the French. With the advent of the fur-trader, the explorer
and the missionary, the country of the Hurons became the key
to the continent. Adjoining the Hurons on the south-west
were the Petuns; north of Lake Erie were the Neutrals; further
south on the southern shores of Lake Erie were the Eries, or
Nation of the Cat; southward on the Susquehanna lived the
redoubtable Carantouans or Andastes, old allies of the Hurons;
east of the Hurons were the Upper Algonquins, the Ottawas
and the Nipissings, differing from the Hurons in customs and
language and independent one of another, but all of them
united in a common hatred of the Iroquois, whose rich and
populous country lay south of Lake Ontario and extended
east to the Hudson River. ‘‘The Huron Mission,” writes
Bressani in his Relation Abrégée, “‘included all these countries.
Our purpose was always to march on to the discovery of new
peoples, and we hoped that a settlement among the Hurons
would be the key.”

1 ROCHEMONTEIX, Les Jésuites et la Nouvelle France, Tome I, p. 321.

5



6 TORONTO DURING THE FRENCH REGIME

Champlain himself desired the establishment of this mission
not only from the point of view of religion, but because he
appreciated the immense advantages which the French would
derive from it from the point of view of commerce and conquest.
The Huron Mission was, in Champlain’s opinion, an advance
post towards the west, which was to assure to France the
freedom of her communications in the heart of North America.
He hoped to attach the fur-trade to the mission, and to make
himself master in the Huron country of all the commerce with
the peoples of the interior, to the exclusion of the English and
the Dutch.! He was not long in allying himself with the
Hurons and visiting their country.

Accordingly on the eighth of September, 1615, we find
Champlain at the northern outlet of Lake Simcoe ready to
set out with the Hurons on an expedition against the Iroquois,
and accompanied by his interpreter, Etienne Bralé, whom he
despatched with twelve Hurons and two canoes to the Caran-
touans or Andastes to summon their assistance. It is at this
point that the ‘“‘Toronto Carrying-Place’” comes into history,
for it was by this route that Bralé and his companions set out
on their long and devious journey to the Andastes. We have,
however, to rely upon inference and tradition, for Champlain
has little to say about Brillé, and the dotted line on Champlain's
map, which seems to indicate Brilé's trail to the country of the
Carantouans, begins south of Lake Erie and gives no hint of the
route followed before reaching that point. The tradition which
connects Br(lé with the Humber has, however, the support of
all historians, including Parkman and Butterfield; and since
Brilé parted with Champlain at the Narrows it is reasonable to
infer that he would follow the most direct route to his destination.

Butterfield remarks: ‘‘There were two streams, one from
the southward emptying into Lake Simcoe, another the Humber,
from the northward flowing into Lake Ontario, which were to
be their highway of travel, there being a short portage from
one to the other, across which two canoes could easily be

1 ROCHEMONTEIX, Les Jésuites et la Nouvelle France, Tome 1, p. 335.
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carried.” Butterfield is mistaken as to the length of the
portage; the Toronto Carrying-Place, twenty-eight miles in
length, ran from the west branch of the Holland to the mouth
of the Humber, and there is no indication that it was ever
traversed otherwise than on foot. This, however, would be no
obstacle to the nimble Hurons, nor to Brilé, who had now been
five years in their country, and was by this time as active and
nimble as themselves.

We may follow, in imagination, Brlé and the Hurons,
swinging along at a rapid rate through the September woods with
their canoes on their heads. Possibly they reached the mouth
of the Humber some time after sundown on the ninth. Bralé
was the first white man to behold the site of the city of Toronto;
and the scene which met his gaze as he and his twelve Huron
companions emerged from the woods by the foot-path which
until recent years still followed the east bank of the Humber,
must have been a noble and impressive sight. East and west
the forest clothed the shores, and before him, extending to
the horizon, lay the lake which has borne in succession the
names, Tadenac, Lac Contenant,? Lac St. Louis, Lac des
Entouhonoronons, Lac des Iroquois, Cataraqui, Contario,
Lac Ontario,® Lac Frontenac, but which the Iroquois them-
selves called *“Skaniadorio”* or the ‘“beautiful lake’—a fair
scene of primitive and virgin beauty, very different from the
animated picture which the bathing-beach at Sunnyside presents
to-day with its Mediterranean brilliancy of colour backed by
the skyscrapers of a modern city.

What route Brlé followed from the mouth of the Humber
to the country of the Andastes has been the subject of consider-
able conjecture. It has been thought that the party crossed
Lake Ontario in their canoes; others have maintained that they

1 BUTTERFIELD, Brilé’s Discoveries and Explorations, p. 48.
2 VISSCHER’S map, 1680.

3 poriER, Radices Huronicae, 1, p. 156; ontare—ils appellent ainsi tous les
lacs (a4 Pexception du La.c‘Superior, qu’ ils nomment okouateenende) + io,
“peautiful, good, large,” ibid., II, p. 236.

4 CORONELLI, map, 1688.
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followed the shore to the end of the lake and coasted the southern
shore to the mouth of the Niagara River; others have asserted
that Bralé turned westward from the mouth of the Humber
and followed the valley of the Thames to the neighbourhood
of Detroit and then reached the Andastes by a long detour south
of Lake Erie. All this is conjecture; but it seems probable, if
the dotted line in Champlain’s map represents the route followed
after the party had crossed Lake Erie, that Brilé on this historic
occasion took the trail which appears on the earliest Joliet
map, from the head of the lake to the Grand River, and that
Bralé, descending that river to its mouth, crossed Lake Erie
and followed the route indicated by Champlain.

Posterity has not done Brilé justice; he was the first of
Europeans to master the Algonquin and Huron languages; he
was bold enough and hardy enough to risk his life among these
tribes for many years; he was the first to make the long journey
from Quebec to Lake Huron by way of the Ottawa River: the
first to enter what is now the Province of Ontario; the first in
all likelihood to sail Lake Ontario and to visit the Niagara
Peninsula, and the first to cross over northern New York and
to descend the Susquehanna River, passing on his way through
parts of Pennsylvania and Maryland and touching the soil of
Virginia; he was the first also to stand upon the shores of Lake
Superior. Although research has revealed much about this
extraordinary man, he remains a shadowy figure; it is likely that
his explorations covered a much wider area than we know.
He was illiterate and possibly irreligious. His contemporaries,
with the exception of Sagard, do not speak well of him.! Cham-
plain, while making use of the information which Briilé obtained,
ignores his discoveries. Brilé’s unpopularity with the Jesuits
may be due to the fact that he ‘' went native’’; the missionaries
alleged that his life among the Hurons was a disgrace to the
French and to Christianity. Brlé avenged himself by siding
with the Huguenot traders and afterwards with Kertk: he
shared the infamy of Marselot, another of Champlain’s ‘‘boys, "

1 pu crEUX, Historia Canadensis, pp. 119, 120, 161, 172.
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in piloting the English from Tadoussac to Quebec. He was
sharply rebuked by Champlain, and was murdered some years
later by the Hurons; they killed and ate him when they heard
that the French had returned to Quebec. Poor Bralé! It is
impossible to form a very just estimate of an adventurer whose
character has been painted in the darkest colours by his con-
temporaries. The discoveries which he made alone and unaided
in the interior of America are a title to honours which he has
not received. The investigations of Dr. A. F. Hunter make it
almost certain that the skull and bones of Etienne Brolé,
together with his weapons, his pipe and other personal belong-
ings, lie buried according to the custom of the Hurons somewhere
in Lot 1 of the 17th Concession of the township of Tay.

Du Creux's formidable indictment of Briilé—more formidable
still in the stately Latin—lies like a monument of obloquy upon
the memory of the intrepid explorer.

It is clear that Br{ilé was a bad man, and guilty of every
vice and crime. He had served as interpreter for the French
among the Hurons, and the wretch had not been ashamed to
disgrace himself by betraying the French and passing over to
the English when they took possession of the citadel of Quebec.
Champlain taunted Br6lé with this perfidy, and pointed out
how disgraceful it was for a Frenchman to betray king and
country, and for an orthodox Catholic to ally himself with
heretics, share their foul intoxication and eat meat on days
when, as he well knew, Catholics were forbidden to do so.
The impious man answered that he knew all that, but since a
comfortable future was not before him in France, the die was
cast, and he would live with the English. Brlé returned to
the Hurons. It cost him nothing to give up his country.
Long a transgressor of the laws of God and man, he spent the
rest of his wretched life in vile intemperance, such as no Christian
should exhibit among the heathen. He died by treachery; per-
haps for this very reason, that he might perish in his sins.
Deprived of those benefits by which the children of the Church
are prepared for a happy issue from this mortal life, Bralé was
hurried to the Judgment Seat to answer for all his other crimes
and especially for that depravity which was a perpetual
stumbling-block to the Hurons, among whom he should have



10 TORONTO DURING THE FRENCH REGIME

been a lamp in a dark place, a light to lead that heathen nation
to the Faith. Let us return to our story.!

It is not unlikely that there were others who travelled the
trail early in the seventeenth century; French missionaries and
traders or adventurous Dutchmen from Fort Orange on the
Hudson. It is possible that Brébeuf and Chaumonot passed
this way in the spring of 1641,0n their return from the country
of the Neutrals where they had spent the winter; they reached
Fort Ste. Marie on March 19th, and since the Relation for that
year informs us that Brébeuf broke his left shoulder-blade in
a fall on the ice on Lake Simcoe, the missionaries may have
returned to Huronia by the Carrying-Place and not by the
long inland trail up the valley of the Grand River. The finding
of an ovoidal stone on Lot 24 of the fifth concession of the town-
ship of Vaughan, inscribed with the date 1641 and now in the
Royal Ontario Museum, seems to indicate that there were
Frenchmen in that vicinity in that year.” Sagard, however,
makes it plain that when the Petun chief conducted Father de
la Roche d’Aillon’ into the country of the Neutrals in 1626
the party followed the long trail across country and not the
more direct route of the Carrying-Place. Although there
were many Frenchmen in Ontario from 1610 to 1650, we learn
little from the Relations about the geography of any part of
the Province except that district in which the French were
conducting their missions. Yet it is incredible that bold
and adventurous spirits should face all the dangers of the
journey from Quebec to Huronia and then remain inactive
within the confines of that somewhat restricted area; there were
at times as many as sixty men engaged in one way or another

1 pU cREUX, Historia Canadensis, p. 160. Consult also a paper by Mr. J. W.
Curran, of Sault Ste. Marie, read at St. Catharines, June, 1932.

2 Omntario Archaeological Report, 1897-1898, p. 32.

3 “Many of our Frenchmen,” says the Jesuit Relation of 1640-1641, “have
in the past made journeys in this country of the Neuter nation for the sake of
reaping profit and advantage from furs and other little wares that one might
look for. But we have no knowledge of any one who has gone there for the
purpose of preaching the Gospel, except the Rev. Father Joseph de la Roche
Dallion, a Récollet.”
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ASTROLABE DISCOVERED IN 1925 oN CHRISTIAN [SLAND,
GEORGIAN BAY, AND NOW IN THE POSSESSION OF
Dr. F. N. G. Starg, TorONTO

This instrument was no doubt employed by the French missionaries in
constructing the earliest maps of the lake region. It bears the date 1595
and is 4} inches in diameter. Champlain’s astrolabe, discovered on the
portage from the Ottawa River to Muskrat Lake in 1867, is dated 1613.
There are only two specimens of this rare instrument in America.
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in the work of the mission, and Lake Ontario and the Toronto
Carrying-Place must have had many visitors in the intervals
of peace with the Iroquois.

To the Iroquois is due the fact that the country south of
Lake Simcoe and along the north shore of Lake Ontario remained
a no-man’s land during this period, with no permanent settle-
ments and traversed only by raiding parties from the north or
from the south. The evidence seems to show that most of the
attacks of the Iroquois upon Huronia came from the region of
the Narrows above Lake Simcoe, and that the Iroquois availed
themselves of the Trent Valley waterways as the most con-
venient approach; but it is more than probable that they
occasionally employed both of the trails leading from Lake
Ontario to the Holland River, and it is certain that, as soon as
they had expelled the Hurons from the country, they began
immediately to make use of these routes. We may suppose,
too, that the Hurons often sent their raiding parties along
both these trails, more especially when attacking the Senecas,
the most westerly of the Iroquois. There is no record of the
routes followed by the numerous embassies to and from the
Andastes, but if the Toronto Carrying-Place was avoided, it
was avoided because it was the obvious route and would be
closely watched by the implacable enemies of the Hurons.
The Toronto Carrying-Place was the front door of the Huron
country, and the French, though compelled to follow the
toilsome trail up the Ottawa, had learned at an early date of
this route from Quebec to Huronia, for the Hurons informed
them in 1632 that they knew of a trail by which they could
come to the French trading place in ten days. So formidable,
however, were the Iroquois who barred the St. Lawrence that
not one single Frenchman ascended that river till the year
1657. Had it not been for the Iroquois it is probable that
there would have been a French settlement at Toronto even
before the founding of Montreal; the Jesuits would certainly
have ascended to the Hurons by the shorter and more direct
route, and the rich peltries which were collected at Fort Ste.
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Marie would have descended to Quebec by le passage de Toronto
instead of by the long and perilous portages of the Ottawa.!

From the first the fur trade determined the history of the
Carrying-Place. The French had hoped by still further
estranging the Hurons and the Iroquois to possess for them-
selves the peltries of the former, and the Iroquois had bent
themselves to the destruction of the Hurons in the hope of
acquiring the whole trade for themselves and the Dutch.
Supplied by the latter with firearms, and stimulated with
Dutch brandy, the Iroquois by a policy of terrorism expelled the
Hurons, the Petuns and the Neutrals from the whole of the
peninsula lying between the lakes, and acquired hunting grounds
far richer than any south of the lake. Ontario appears on the
maps for a century after the expulsion of the Hurons as *‘the
beaver hunting ground of the Iroquois. '

In 1638, while these wars were raging, a people known as
the Ouenrohronnons,” who lived east of the Niagara River,
abandoned their country and took refuge with the Hurons.
The Relation for that year informs us that they arrived in an
exhausted condition and that many of them died on the way.
As the statement is made that the distance which they had
covered was more than eighty leagues, and since this corresponds
roughly with the following route, we may assume that the
Ouenrohronnons, escorted by the Hurons, skirted the western
shores of Lake Ontario till they reached the mouth of the
Humber, and then by way of the Carrying-Place arrived
eventually at Ossossane, where they were to find a new home.

Between 1600 and 1663 the maps of the lake region are not
numerous, but some of them are more detailed than the maps

1 “It is true that the way is shorter by the Sant de St. Louys and the
Lake of the Hiroquois (Ontario), but the fear of enemies, and the few con-
veniences to be met with, cause that route to be unfrequented.” Brébeuf,
Relation of 1635.

“If once we were masters of the sea nearest the dwelling of the Iroquois
we could ascend by the river St. Lawrence without danger, as far as the Neutral
Nation and far beyond with considerable saving of time and trouble.” Jérome
Lalemant, May 19, 1641, St. Mary’s in the Huron Country.

2 wraXALL, New York Indian Records, Mcllwain, Introduction.

3 pu creux, Historia Canadensis, p. 238.
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of the succeeding period. The Hakluyt map of 1600 merely
indicates a great inland sea called ‘ The lake of Tadenac whose
bounds are unknown.”” This map is described by Hallam in
his Introduction to the Literature of Europe as ‘‘the best map
of the sixteenth century.” It is in all probability the new
map referred to by Shakespeare in Twelfth Night, Act III,
Scene 2. More is to be learned from Champlain’s map of 1612.
No white man had as yet ascended the St. Lawrence above
Montreal, and Champlain’s information was derived from the
Indians. In this map the falls of Niagara are indicated for the
first time. Three villages are marked on the north shore of
Lake Ontario. Champlain gives no name to Lake Ontario,
but describes it as a lake of fifteen days’ journey by canoe,
Lac Contenant 15 journées des canaux des sauvages. The Dutch,
supposing that Contenant was a proper name, perpetuated this
error in their maps for fifty years. The Quinte Peninsula and
the Trent Valley route are indicated.

In Champlain’s smaller map of 1613, Lake Ontario appears
for the first time as Lac St. Louis. In his much more detailed
map of 1632 there are no place names or sites along the north
shore; Lake Simcoe is shown, and the Humber River and
Bralé’s trail to the Andastes south of Lake Erie. Jansson’s
map of 1636 shows that the Dutch knew the hills north of
Toronto. Sanson’s map of 1650 has lines which may be the
Toronto and Quinte routes. His map of 1656 gives Lake Simcoe
as Lake Oentaron. Du Creux in 1660 gives this lake as lacus
Ouentaronius and marks the Holland and the Humber rivers
and other streams flowing into Lake Ontario. Sanson and
Du Creux probably based their maps upon Jér6me Lalemant’s
map of 1639, which has not been discovered. Du Creux’s map
is the more detailed in the Toronto region, and both these
maps show a surprising knowledge of the lakes, although Lake
Michigan and Lake Superior are still imperfectly delineated.
We may believe that observations were taken in many places
with the astrolabe found within recent years in the neighbour-
hood of Fort Ste. Marie II on Christian Island.
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HENNEPIN AND LA SALLE AT THE CARRYING-PLACE
1663-1682

La Salle, “un homme devenu grand par ses actes, por leurs
conséquences el avant tout par le sacrifice de sa personne. m

N 1663 Canada became a Royal Province; the period of
Iromance was at an end; there were to be no more dreams of

spiritual empire. But with the coming of the Carignan-
Saliéres regiment in 1665 there was peace, and the French for
the first time began to find their way to Lake Ontario, to explore
its shores, and to lay their plans for recapturing from the
Iroquois the fur-trade, which the latter had diverted to the
English and the Dutch on the Hudson, and to the Swedes in
New Jersey. The first steps had already been taken; for the
Jesuits, abandoning the Huron country and the rest of Ontario
to the Iroquois, had pushed farther into the west, and as early
as 1660 had discovered Michilimackinac in the heart of the
continent at the juncture of three great inland seas, where they
established a post which was to continue for a century to be the
citadel of the French in the interior. With the establishment
of Fort Frontenac at the eastern extremity of Lake Ontario in
1773, the French found themselves at last in a position to
impose an effective curb upon the Iroquois, and to collect at
their leisure the peltries from the north and south sides of the
lake. Le passage de Toronto,?> which but for the Iroquois
would have been the main avenue of approach to the Huron
country, now became the link between Fort Frontenac at the
base of the St. Lawrence and Michilimackinac and the Sault
in the heart of the west, and began in a measure to replace the
route by the Ottawa which had been the only available approach
to the interior since the days of Champlain.

But hardly had the French resumed control of the fur-trade

1 Mmarcry, Tome I, p. xii.

2 DENONVILLE, to M. de la Durantaye, June 6, 1686.

14




LA SALLE
Crossing the Toronto Portage, 1681, on his way to the Mississippi.
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when France began to play a new rdle in America. With La
Salle and Frontenac, the empire-builder appears upon the
scene, and no longer content with the banks of the St. Lawrence,
the French conceived that grandiose scheme of securing the
valley of the Mississippi, which was to end in tragedy a century
later. Itis an altered scene. If the old actors continue to play
a part, it is upon a larger and a more varied stage. Le passage
de Toronto becomes not only a link between Fort Frontenac
and Michilimackinac, but a highway to the Mississippi.

The Jesuit, Le Moyne, who undertook a diplomatic mission
to the Onondagas in the year 1654, was the first white man to
follow the St. Lawrence from Montreal to Lake Ontario. From
that time missionaries began to find their way into the Iroquois
country south of the lake. But it was not till the year 1668,
when the Sulpicians of Montreal began their mission among the
scattered Iroquois on the north shore of Lake Ontario, that the
district once so thickly peopled by the Hurons, the Petuns and
the Neutrals again comes into history. From the spring of
1650, when the miserable remnant of the Hurons fled northward
along the eastern shore of Georgian Bay, the whole of the
peninsula between the lakes had been in the hands of the
Iroquois. ‘‘Succurrebat animis,”” writes Du Creux, ‘‘ Huronicos
tractus deinceps aliud nihil esse nisi locum horroris, et vastae
solitudinis, theatrumque caedis et cladium.” For almost
twenty years the Iroquois, in the intervals of warlike expedi-
tions, had gathered the rich peltries and sold them to the
Dutch and English on the Hudson. Gradually, too, after
1666, they had migrated in small bands to the north shore of
the lake, and had established themselves where the trails led
off into the interior, to the richer hunting-grounds of the north.
Beginning at the eastern end of Lake Ontario, the names of
these Iroquois villages are as follows: Ganneious on the site of
the present site of the town of Napanee, a village of the Oneidas;
Kenté on the Bay of Quinte, Kentsio on Rice Lake, Ganaraske
on the site of the present town of Port Hope, villages of the
Cayugas who had fled from the menace of the Andastes to a
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securer position beyond the lake; Ganatsekwyagon at the
mouth of the Rouge and Teiaiagon at the mouth of the Humber,
villages of the Senecas who had established themselves at the
foot of the two branches of the Toronto Carrying-Place and
were thus in command of the traffic across the peninsula to
Lake Simcoe and the Georgian Bay.! It is probable that there
were other villages of the Iroquois here and there in the interior,
but it is only possible to surmise their situation.? De Cour-
celles, who visited the eastern end of the lake in 1671, observed
that the Iroquois never hunted the beaver on the south side of
Lake Ontario for the very sufficient reason that they had
exterminated them there long ago, and that it would be extremely
difficult to discover a single specimen in the Iroquois country;
they did all their hunting on the north side of the lakes, where
the Hurons had formerly hunted.® On the first arrival of the
French in Lake Ontario, they found the Dutch in possession of
the trade. These enterprising traders from Fort Orange and
Manhatte, les Hollandois* who appear so often in the records of
the period, had long been en rapport with the Iroquois and could
speak their language, and seem to have swarmed over the lake
and the adjoining territory, debauching the savages and carrying
off their furs. In the years between the fall of Huronia and the
return of the French to the lake region, these Dutch traders
must have frequented Ganatsekwyagon and Teiaiagon and the
shore between these two villages where Toronto now stands.

1 “In the Huron-Algonguin era the north shore was without doubt more
thickly villaged than the Sulpicians found it. The Iroquois desolation had

swept over it, and we learn from a letter of Laval’s that only in 1665 did the
conquering race begin colonization.” Picturesque Canada, Vol. II, pp. 635-6.

2 New York Colonial Documents, Vol. IX, p. 1056. “North of Lake
Ontario” should read “south of Lake Ontario.” On November 13, 1763, Sir
William Johnson wrote to the Lords of Trade that the Five Nations claimed
possession of Ontario, including the Missisauga country.

3 Remy de Courcelles au Lac Ontario, Margry 1, p. 180; Lahontan, Some
New Voyages in North America, p. 323, “They (the Iroquois) are in like
manner forc’d to range out of their own Territories, in quest of Beaver in
the winter time, either towards Ganaraské (Port Hope), or to the sides of
the Lake of Toronto, or else Towards the greater River of The Outaouas;
where it would be an easy matter to cut all their Throats, by pursuing the
course I laid down in my letters.”

4 MARGRY, I, p. 181-192.
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Dollier de Casson, in his Summary of the Quinté Mission,
describes its origin.

It was in the year 1668 that we were given the task of setting
out for the Iroquois, and Quinté was assigned to us as the
centre of our mission because in that same year a number of
people from that village had come to Montreal and had definitely
requested us to go and teach them in their country, this embassy
reached us in the month of June. As, however, we expected
that year a superior from France, it was deemed fitting that
they should be asked to come back again, as it seemed inadvisable
to undertake a matter of this importance without waiting for
his counsel, so that nothing should be done therein save as he
decided. In September the chief of that village did not fail to
appear at the time set for him, to try and lead back into his
country a number of missionaries. The request was placed
before M. de Queylus, who had come to be superior of this
community, and he gave his approval of the plan very willingly.
After that we went to see the bishop, who supported us with
his authority. As for the governor and intendant of the
country, we had no difficulty in obtaining their consent, as they
had from the first thought of us in connection with such an
enterprise.!

M. de Trouvé, from whose letter the above extract is taken,
and M. de Fénelon, the fiery half-brother of the famous Arch-
bishop of Cambrai, and author of Télémaque, were the first
missionaries; the latter, in company with another missionary,
M. d'Urfé, passed the winter of 1669 and 1670 in the village of
Ganatsekwyagon,”> a fact which is commemorated by the
name Frenchman’s Bay, which clings to the inlet near the
mouth of the Rouge.® This is the first recorded residence of
white men in the neighbourhood of Toronto.

b d1 DOLL;ER DE cassoN, A History of Montreal, translated by Flenley, p. 351;
ibid., p. 359.

2 PROFESSOR LEWIS ALLEN suggests that Gandatschekiagon, as it is some-
times spelled, may mean “sand cut,” i.e., opening in sand cliffs, from gandechia,
“sand,” and gaiagon, “cut.”

3 “A little to the west of the Seneca village (Ganatsekwyagon) was a stream
that gave kindly shelter to distressed canoes; and so by Indians of the next
century and of a different race it was named Katabokokonk, or the “River
of Easy Entrance.” In making its way to the lake it pierced a hill of red
tenacious clay, which sufficiently coloured its waters to justify the old French
name, Riviére Rouge, . . . . It is still the Rouge and the name is interesting
as the sole remaining trace now on this north-west shore of the old Sulpician
Mission of Louis the Fourteenth’s domain.” Boyle, History of Scarborough
Township, pp. 26 and 27, f.n,, ibid. p. 24; Picturesque Canada, Vol. 11, p. 624.
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Frontenac, in his letter to the Minister under date of
November 2, 1672, makes it very plain why the Sulpicians were
selected for the new mission on Lake Ontario. It was felt that
a new policy must be adopted with the Indians. The Jesuits
had made no effort to turn them into Frenchmen or even to
teach them the French language. It was hoped that the
Sulpicians would render them more useful allies of the French.

It was in the year 1669, possibly before the arrival of Fénelon
and d’Urfé in the village of Ganatsekwyagon, that two notable
explorers, Péré and Joliet, camped for a time in that village
before crossing le passage de Toronte' to the Georgian Bay.
They were on their way to Lake Superior in search of the great
copper mine reported to exist in that region. It has been
thought that this was not the first visit of Péré to the locality,
and that he visited the site of the city of Toronto in the preceding
year;® he was the first French trader on Lake Ontario, and the
few facts which have been ascertained about him serve to
stimulate curiosity. On November 11, 1669, the sieur Patoulet
wrote to Colbert from Quebec, ‘‘The sieurs Joliet and Péré to
whom M. Talon has had paid 400 and 1,000 livres respectively,
to go and find out if the copper mine which exists above Lake
Ontario, and of which you have seen several samples, is a
rich mine, and easy to work, and accessible, have not yet
returned.” They had left Montreal in May or June of 1669,
and there is a legend on the Dollier-Galinée map attached to
the village of Ganatsekwyagon, ‘It was here that M. Perray
and his party camped to enter Lake Huron—when I have seen
the passage I will give it; however, it is said the road is very
fine, and it is here the missionaries of St. Sulpice will establish
themselves.” This information must have been obtained
from Joliet and Péré, whom Dollier and Galinée met on Septem-
ber 24, 1669, at the village of Tinawatawa on the portage from

1 SEVERANCE, An Old Frontier of France, Vol. 1, p. 29; New York Colonial
Documents, Vol. 111, p. 479; Margry, I, p. 81.

2 Ontario Archaeological Report, 1899, p. 183, article by General John S.
Clark; Bulletin_de la Société de Géographie de Québec, Vol. VIII, 1914, p.
325, article by Benjamin Sulte.
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the head of Lake Ontario to the Grand River. Similarly at the
head of Matchedash Bay there is this legend on the Galinée
map: ‘I did not see this bay, where was formerly the country
of the Hurons, but I see that it is even deeper than I sketched it,
and apparently the road over which M. Perray travelled ter-
minated here.” There is thus good evidence to prove that
Joliet and Péré passed over the passage de Toronto from Ganat-
sekwyagon to the mouth of the Severn River in the year 1669,
and that they found the road good and likely to prove an
excellent alternative to the long and dangerous route by the
Ottawa River.! We may conclude also that the Abbé Fénelon
and the Sulpicians decided to establish themselves at Ganat-
sekwyagon because that village was situated at the foot of one
arm of the passage de Toronto.” On several maps of this period
the Ganatsekwyagon portage is indicated and the Teiaiagon
portage is not marked, though the village itself is shown; the
French seem to have selected the former because it was nearer
to the eastern end of the lake, and for those travelling by canoe
there would be no need to go on twenty-three miles to the better
anchorage at the mouth of the Humber. We shall hear once
more in Denonville’s time of Ganatsekwyagon, and then the
preference seems to have been given to Teiaiagon and the
western branch of the portage, which became definitely known
as the Toronto Carrying-Place.

Péré and Joliet had been despatched not only to search for a
copper mine but also to find a new route to the west; they
were the first white men to pass through the straits at Detroit.
Dollier and Galinée had embarked on a similar errand in the
same year, but they tell us nothing about the Toronto region;
they followed the south shore of Lake Ontario and returned
next year by the Ottawa. With the exception of Péré, the names

1 “The short communication from Montreal by the Ottawa River was

ever attended with so many inconveniences from the number of Carrying
Places that the French always preferred the Lakes.” Sir Wm. Johnson.

2 The length of the eastern portage, according to Raffeix, 1688, was 15
leagues, i.e., 36 miles, which would make the northern terminus Roche’s
Point, which may have been the terminus in winter.
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This is the earliest map of the Toronto Carrying-Place,
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In an inset map of the Huron country Lake Simcoe is Lacus Oueniaronius.
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of all these men are too well known to students of history to
require further comment. Péré' remains a shadowy figure;
choosing the life of a coureur-de-bois, he seems to have laid
aside the loyalties as well as the restraints of civilization and to
have conceived an ambitious plan for disposing of the furs of
the coureurs-de-bois to the English at Albany. Arrested by the
English and detained in England, he returned to America.
There is ground for supposing that he was the discoverer of the
Moose River flowing into Hudson Bay; it bears his name in
some early maps. At any rate, he was one of those many
Frenchmen attracted by the wild life of the woods who dis-
appeared into the wilderness.”

On August 29, 1670, Talon sent to Colbert, by the hands of
the Abbé Fénelon, a map showing the communication between
Lake Ontario and Lake Huron. ‘‘Another missionary,” he
wrote, ‘‘also from the Seminary of St. Sulpice, has penetrated
farther than he in order to find out for me about a river for
which I was looking in order to establish a communication
between Lake Ontario and Lake Huron where they say there is
a copper mine. This missionary made a map of his journey
a copy of which is in the hands of the said Abbé Fénelon. It
will form un assez juste sujet de vosire curiosité."

Hardly had the results of these explorations been ascertained
when the Intendant Talon wrote to Colbert explaining his
plans for curbing the Iroquois, who were hunting the beaver
on the lands of those savages who had placed themselves
under the protection of the king and plundering them of their
own peltries. He proposed to establish two posts, one on the
north and the other on the south side of Lake Ontario, and to
build a small vessel which could be either sailed or rowed and

1 MARGRY, I, p. 296.

2 Ibid., p. 88; Severance: 4n Old Frontier of France, Vol. I, pp. 29 and
30; map 4040 B, 1699, Public Archives, Ottawa, which bears the legend
attached to the Moose River, Riviére par ou la Sr. Perrayé a esté ¢ la Baye
de Hudson; Franquelin map of 1688; Margry, Vol. VI, p. 38 et seq. Péré
was retained by Governor Andros of New York with the design of sending
him to open a trade with the Ottawas. Péré is perhaps the first to have con-
ceived the scheme of using the Toronto portage for this purpose.
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which could show itself wherever there was trading on the
lake; he explained that the English from Boston and the Dutch
from Manhatte and Orange secured from the Iroquois and
other tribes in their neighbourhood more than 1,200,000 livres
of beaver skins of the best quality, all of them secured on the
dominions of the king, and that he thought he saw the way to
direct the greater part of this commerce, naturally and without
violence, into the hands of His Majesty’s subjects.! The two
posts which he proposed to establish would protect the Ottawas
when they came down with their rich beaver skins. It is likely
that Talon had in mind an establishment at Niagara on the
south side of the lake and at Cataraqui on the north, for though
the Ottawas were in the habit of employing the Toronto
Carrying-Place, it was thought at first that these two posts
would be sufficient.

In 1671, the year after Talon wrote to the king urging an
establishment on Lake Ontario, the governor, de Courcelles,
visited the lake. It seemed to him une pleine mer sans aucunes
limites, and he, too, speedily formed the opinion that the best
means of preventing the trade between the Iroquois and New
Holland, lately become New York, would be the establishment
of a fort at the entrance of Lake Ontario, ‘ which would occupy
the passage by which the Iroquois passed on their way to
trade with the Dutch when they had secured their furs.” He,
too, observed that the Iroquois did all their hunting on the
north side of the lake, and there were fresh expressions of
indignation that the profits of this trade, drawn from what the
French regarded as their own territory, should go to their rivals,
the Dutch and the English.”

It was in 1672 that Frontenac, in writing to the Minister,
proposed for the first time the erection of a post on Lake Ontario.
He alludes to the post which de Courcelles had projected on the
lake to frustrate the efforts of the Iroquois to capture the trade

1 “Talon au Roy” (November 10, 1670). Margry, I, p. 85.

2 “Récit de ce qui s'est passé au voyage que M. de Courcelles, gouverneur
de 1a Nouvelle France, a fait au lac Ontario.” Margry, I, p. 169.




